IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 89,084

THOMAS DEWEY POPE,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0899641

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1444 Biscayne Boulevard Suite 202 Miami, FL 33132 (305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Thomas Dewey Pope was convicted by a jury of three counts of first-degree murder on February 25, 1982 (R. 1257-59). The sentencing jury recommended life imprisonment on two counts, and the death penalty as to the third count (R. 1274-82). The trial court imposed sentence in accordance with the jury's sentencing decision (R. 265-69). Mr. Pope's convictions and sentences, including his sentence of death, were affirmed on direct appeal. Pooe v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 1983).

On September 18, 1984, Mr. Pope filed a motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. While that motion was pending, Mr. Pope sought habeas corpus relief in this Court. On October 16, 1986, this Court denied habeas corpus relief. **Pope v. Wainwright**, 496 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 1986).

Mr. Pope's motion for postconviction relief was thereafter denied by the lower court following a partial evidentiary hearing on one limited issue. On appeal, this Court affirmed the denial of all requested relief. Pope v. State, 569 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 1990).

On September 4, 1991, Mr. Pope filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. In its response to Mr. Pope's habeas petition, the State of Florida argued that some of the claims presented had not been exhausted in the state courts. On March 28, 1994, United States District Court Judge James C. Paine dismissed Mr. Pope's federal habeas petition as a mixed petition and allowed Mr. Pope to return to state

court to exhaust the claims to which the State had asserted nonexhaustion. Pope v. Sinaletarv, No. 91-6717-CIV-PAINE (Order on Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus) (S.D. Fla. March 28, 1994).

Mr. Pope thereafter filed a Motion to Vacate Conviction and Sentence Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 (PC-R. 1-151). The lower court, Judge Howard M. Zeidwig, ordered the State of Florida to respond to Mr. Pope's motion within thirty (30) days (PC-R. 157). The State of Florida thereafter sought a sixty (60) day extension of time within which to file its response (PC-R. 159-60). The lower court granted the State's motion (PC-R. 161). Immediately prior to the expiration of the extension period, the State requested an additional sixty (60) day extension of time within which to file its response (PC-R. 162-63). The lower court granted the State's motion (PC-R. 164). Immediately prior to the expiration of this extension period, the State requested an additional forty-five (45) days within which to file its response (PC-R. 165-66). The lower court again granted the State's motion (PC-R. 167). Immediately prior to the expiration of this extension period, the State requested an additional seven (7) days within which to file its response (PC-R. 168-69). On December 26, 1995, the State of Florida filed its response (PC-R. 221-239).

Just prior to the filing of the State's response, Mr. Pope filed several *pro se* pleadings, including a Motion to Hold Proceedings in Abeyance Pending Resolution of Status of Representation (PC-R. 170-72), Motion for Hearing to Determine Competency. of Appointed Collateral Counsel and Consolidated Motion for the

Appointment of the Capital Collateral Representative (PC-R. 173-75), and an amended Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 176-218). Mr. Pope's volunteer counsel thereafter filed a motion to withdraw as counsel, noting that "Mr. Pope no longer desires the undersigned to provide counsel to him or represent his interests and, in fact, is of the belief that the advice and counsel rendered thus far is constitutionally defective" (PC-R. 595). The Office of the Capital Collateral Representative thereafter filed a Motion to Hold Proceedings in Abeyance Pending Resolution of Designation of Counsel, arguing that CCR could not assume Mr. Pope's representation due to excessive caseload conflicts and requesting that Mr. Pope's postconviction proceedings be stayed until effective CCR counsel could be designated (PC-R. 597-98).

During a phone hearing on the matter of Mr. Pope's legal representation, Mr. Pope's volunteer counsel argued that he was "not knowledgeable enough in the nuances of capital representation to know one way or the other" about the law relating to death penalty issues, especially procedural bars (Supp. PC-R. 9-10), and "have no expertise in knowing the ins and outs of the law as it relates to capital representation" (Supp. PC-R. 10). The State argued that volunteer counsel should stay on the case until the resolution of the pending postconviction motions (Supp. PC-R. 9).

The lower court thereafter entered an order that volunteer counsel was to remain representing Mr. Pope until such time as the court ruled on the pending

Rule 3.850 motions (PC-R. 621). The lower court also denied the various motions filed *pro* se by Mr. Pope as well as the CCR office (PC-R. 616).

On February 22, 1996, Mr. Pope filed a *pro* se Motion to Appoint **Conflict**Free Counsel, alleging that he was being denied his statutory right to effective and conflict-free representation because the court allowed volunteer counsel to withdraw, but only after resolution of the pending postconviction motions (PC-R. 618-20).

On May 29, 1996, the lower court entered an order denying Mr. Pope's motion for postconviction relief as well as Mr. Pope's *pro* se motion to appoint conflict-free counsel (PC-R. 622).

On June 12, 1996, the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative filed a Motion to Clarify Status of Counsel, to Reconsider Dismissal of Motion for Postconviction Relief, and Motion to Hold Proceedings in Abeyance Pending Resolution of Designation of Counsel (PC-R, 624). In its motion, CCR argued that, due to the court's prior order regarding volunteer counsel, "[i]t is not clear [] whether volunteer counsel or CCR, or Mr. Pope, pro se, can file a motion for rehearing as authorized by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(g)" (PC-R. 625). In response, the State of Florida argued that "because Mr. Wagner filed the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on behalf of the Defendant, Mr. Wagner, and not Capital Collateral Representative, should file the motion for rehearing, if he deems it necessary" (PC-R. 628). The State also argued that the lower court "should treat the pro-se motion as a separate and distinct motion for post-conviction relief and

allow the Capital Collateral Representative to represent the Defendant on that motion" (PC-R. 629).

On July 3, 1996, the lower court entered an order that "the CCR would be the appropriate counsel to represent Defendant in any further pleadings before this Court" and that "the Court finds no reason to reconsider its dismissal of either the Motion or Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief, as they were both successive" (PC-R. 632). A notice of appeal was thereafter timely filed (PC-R. 633).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr. Pope received constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel at his capital trial. Due to numerous failures to cross-examine witnesses, present evidence, investigate the case, read witness statements and depositions, prepare witnesses in advance of calling them at trial, and other omissions, Mr. Pope was denied his right to effective counsel. The number and severity of counsel's prejucial omissions was tantamount to a complete deprivation of counsel. Although this is Mr. Pope's second motion to vacate, under the unique circumstances of this case Mr. Pope requests that the Court overlook and/or forgive any procedural default found by the lower court.
- 2. Mr. Pope's sentencing jury received constitutionally inadequate instructions on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance, and the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance. The instruction failed to adequately channel the sentencing jury's discretion. To the extent that trial counsel failed to know the law and submit proposed instructions, defense counsel rendered prejudicially deficient performance. A new sentencing proceeding, free from the taint of the Eighth Amendment error, should be ordered.
- 3. The lower court denied Mr. Pope's right to effective counsel during these postconviction proceedings. The lower court permitted volunteer counsel to withdraw from Mr. Pope's representation due to a conflict of interest, yet refused to allow them to withdraw until the court ruled on the pending motion for postconviction relief. Mr. Pope was therefore represented by conflicted counsel.

The lower court also erred in permitting the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative to represent Mr. Pope on his amended postconviction motion, despite the State's position that such motion needed to be "fairly litigated" by Mr. Pope and his CCR counsel.

ARGUMENT I

MR. POPE WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND TO A RELIABLE ADVERSARIAL TESTING AT THE GUILT PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

A. INTRODUCTION.

A criminal defendant is entitled to a fair trial, As the United States Supreme Court has explained:

a fair trial is one which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding.

Strickland v. Washinnton. 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). In order to insure that an adversarial testing, and hence a fair trial, occur, certain obligations are imposed upon both the prosecutor and defense counsel. The prosecutor is required to disclose to the defense evidence "that is both favorable to the accused and 'material either to guilt or punishment". United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 674 (1985), auotinn Bradv v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). Defense counsel is obligated "to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process."

Strickland. Mr. Pope was denied a reliable adversarial testing. In order "to ensure that a miscarriage of justice [did] not occur," Baalev, 473 U.S. at 675, it was essential for the jury to hear all the evidence.

B. PROCEDURAL DISCUSSION.

The lower court denied Mr. Pope's second motion for postconviction relief as successive and therefore procedurally barred (PC-R. 622). The allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel that were raised in the instant postconviction motion were raised in Mr. Pope's federal habeas petition, but the State raised a nonexhaustion defense, and Mr.

Pope therefore filed the motion in question. The State thereupon argued that the allegations contained in the instant petition are time barred because prior collateral counsel failed to present them in Mr. Pope's initial Rule 3.850 motion.

To the extent that the allegations contained in the instant postconviction motion were not raised by prior collateral counsel, Mr. Pope received ineffective assistance of counsel during his initial postconviction litigation. Mr. Pope is and was entitled to effective representation of collateral counsel under Florida statutory law and this Court's interpretation of such law, See § 27.702 (1), Florida Statutes (1996); Spalding V. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988); Spaziano V. State, 660 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1995). When the State establishes a right to counsel, "this statutory right necessarily carries with it the right to have effective assistance of counsel." Remeta V. State, 559 So. 2d 1132, 1135 (Fla. 1990). "The appointment of counsel in any setting would be meaningless without some assurance that counsel give effective representation." Id. (emphasis in original). See also Easter V. Endell, 37 F. 3d 1343, 1345 (8th Cir. 1994) ("once such a [state statutory right to counsel] is granted by the state, its operation must conform to the due process requirements of the 14th Amendment"). But cf. Lambrix V. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S365 (Fla. Sept. 12, 1996).

Mr. Pope submits that under the unique circumstances of this case, the serious and substantial errors alleged in the postconviction motion should be heard at this time. Prior collateral counsel, under these circumstances, acted unreasonably in not presenting these matters in Mr. Pope's prior petition.' Because the right to collateral counsel is "meaningless" without some assurance that counsel give effective representation, Remeta,

¹Mr. Pope in no way waives and/or abandons any claims regarding exhaustion that were made in federal court.

559 So. 2d at 1135, Mr. Pope requests that the Court visit these matters at this time.

This Court can overlook a procedural default under the unique circumtances of a case,

Breedlove v. Sinaletary, 595 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1992), and this is one of those cases, as the

severity of the allegations regarding trial counsel's ineffectiveness, discussed infra,

establishes.

C. MR. POPE WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

At trial, Mr. Pope was represented by attorney Scott Eber. Prior to representing Mr. Pope, Eber had only conducted three or four jury trials of any kind (PC-R. 8).²

Counsel's inexperience was demonstrated by his deficiencies in representing Mr. Pope during his capital trial. Had Mr. Pope received the level of assistance of counsel to which he was entitled under the Constitution, there is certainly a reasonable probability of a different outcome. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. Even without the information that counsel unreasonably failed to present to the jury, the jury deliberated for over twelve hours. See R. 1074-92; 1257-60. Had counsel's performance been constitutionally adequate, the unpresented evidence would "have pushed the jury over the edge into the region of reasonable doubt." Barkauskas v. Lang, 878 F.2d 1031 (7th Cir. 1989).

However, due to Eber's unreasonable and prejudicial performance, Mr. Pope's case was never subjected to the crucible of an adversarial testing. In fact, the putative assistance of counsel that Mr. Pope did receive was tantamount to no counsel at all.

²Eber had been appointed as substitute counsel, replacing public defender Douglas McNeil who had withdrawn after seven months as counsel for Mr. Pope. McNeill moved to withdraw on October 2, 1981 (R. 1205), and at a hearing on October 8, the motion to withdraw was denied. The record contains no order granting withdrawal, no order appointing Eber as substitute counsel, and no notice of appearance from Eber. Eber first appears on behalf of Mr. Pope at a pretrial hearing on November 19, 1981.

Mr. Pope's postconviction motion alleged various substantial deficiencies in counsel's performance, deficiencies that prejudiced Mr. Pope and rendered the outcome of the guilt proceedings constitutionally unreliable. Singularly and/or cumulatively, these errors constitute unreasonable attorney performance, and confidence in the outcome is undermined as a result.

1. Failure to Seek Suppression of Inadmissible Statements and Evidence.

Trial counsel wholly failed in his duty to zealously represent Mr. Pope. Counsel failed to seek exclusion from evidence of numerous statements and items of evidence that were prejudicial to Mr. Pope and inadmissible. Prior encounters with law enforcement, involuntary statements, and unpredicated eyewitness identification all were admitted at Mr. Pope's trial without any objection whatsoever. Counsel simply stood mute as more and more prejudicial and inadmissible evidence was presented by the State. Counsel filed no motions to suppress and no motions in limine. Counsel's performance was prejudicially deficient. Smith v. Dugger, 91 1 F. 2d 494, 497 (1 Ith Cir. 1990).

The only discussion on the record regarding the admissibility of Mr. Pope's statements to law enforcement occurred after the jury was sworn in and just prior to the opening statement by the prosecution:

MR. GARFIELD: For the record, I plan to refer, in my opening statement, to the statements made by the defendant to various police officers.

THE COURT: Have I ruled on them?

MR. GARFIELD: Statements made by the defendant to police officers. Mr. Eber has not filed a motion. It is my understanding that he has no objection to the various statements to be admit&d but I wanted a clear answer before we start.

THE COURT: Any problem with that?

MR. EBER: Judge, I'm not -- as far as my objections later on, I'm not going to object to him referring to whatever he wants to in his opening....

MR. GARFIELD: Well, there has not been a motion to suppress filed on the statements. I assume I can go ahead and use them.

(R. 198-200).

A prosecutor is not entitled to refer to "whatever he wants to" during a capital trial. A prosecutor can only refer to and seek inclusion into evidence of admissible evidence. In Mr. Pope's case, counsel failed to preclude the State from presenting inadmissible evidence of prior unrelated and irrelevant encounters between Mr. Pope and law enforcement officers. During redirect examination of the State's most important witness, Susan Eckhart, the prosecutor brought out an encounter between Mr. Pope and the Boca Raton police some six months before the crimes in question, an encounter unrelated to the instant one. The State, seeing that no objection would be forthcoming from Eber, was free to elicit totally irrelevant information about guns and silencers that had nothing to do with this case (R. 694-95). Not once but twice did the prosecutor mention a gun of Mr. Pope's being "confiscated by the Boca Raton police" (Id.). At neither time did Eber make any objection or otherwise prevent the State from introducing irrelevant and highly prejudicial information to the jury.

Another previous unrelated investigation of Mr. Pope was introduced during the testimony of state's witness Agent Therman Nelson of the North Carolina State Bureau of Investigation:

Q Had you, in the course of your duties, spent any time in regard to Tom Pope?

A. Yes, sir. He was auestioned in a prior investigation that I had conducted in that county, yes, sir...

Q ... I was familiar with Mr. Pooe, that he had been interviewed, not by myself, but by an officer that I was workina with, in a prior investination.

(R. 536). Again Eber did not object to these clearly irrelevant and highly prejudicial remarks elicited by the prosecution. Mr. Pope was denied the effective assistance of counsel because of counsel's failure to object.

2. Involuntary Statements to the Police.

Defense counsel also wholly failed to undertake any steps to exclude statements made by Mr. Pope to law enforcement, made while Mr. Pope was in custody, without counsel, and without the Miranda warnings. Mr. Pope's first direct interrogation occurred on January 21, 1981, two days after the discovery of the homicides of Doranz and DiRusso. Detectives Perry and Verdegem showed up at the door of attorney Ronald Dubner's apartment, where Mr. Pope had been staying, and invited themselves in (R. 280). Less than an hour earlier, they had interviewed Susan Eckhart, who informed them that she and Mr. Pope had been to Doranz' apartment the evening of January 16. After noticing a box of .22 caliber cartridges on the table when they were speaking to Mr. Pope, the detectives "talked to him about his knowledge of Al Doranz, Christine Walters, and Caesar DiRusso, advised him we were involved in a homicide investigation" (R. 280).

After discussing whether Mr. Pope owned any weapons and about his whereabouts on the night of January 16, 1981, and "once he did tell us he was at that apartment and in fact had the .22 caliber weapons[,]...[alt that time, we felt it necessary to read his Miranda warnings" (R. 283). Detective Perry's various reports varied as to when he gave Mr. Pope

³In its discovery responses, the State had alerted Eber of its intention to use these statements. <u>See</u> R. 1187, 1218.

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