FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 17 1997

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

THOMAS DEWEY POPE,

Appellant,

Vs.

Case No. 89,084

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - Appellant's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are procedurally barred, since they were raised in a successive motion outside the two-year time limit and were not based on either newly discovered evidence or the retroactive application of fundamental constitutional rights. His excuse for failing to raise these claims in his first 3.850 proceeding--that collateral counsel was ineffective--does not legally overcome the procedural bar.

Issue II - Appellant's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the constitutionality of the HAC and CCP aggravating factor instructions at trial is procedurally barred, since this claim should have been raised in his first 3.850 proceeding.

Issue III - The trial court did not find a conflict between volunteer counsel and Appellant. Rather, given volunteer counsel's ten years of pro bono service, the trial court decided to allow volunteer counsel to withdraw at the conclusion of the proceedings. That Appellant wanted to claim ineffectiveness of volunteer counsel to excuse his failure to raise his claims in the original 3.850 was not sufficient justification to discharge counsel. Appellant was not entitled to collateral counsel, much less effective collateral counsel. Regardless, the trial court considered Appellant's pro se

amended 3.850 motion, which alleged volunteer counsel's ineffectiveness, and denied the motion.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

WHETHER APPELLANT'S CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, WHICH WERE RAISED IN A SUCCESSIVE MOTION, WERE PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED (Restated).

This Court affirmed Appellant's conviction and sentence on October 27, 1983, and mandate issued on February 15, 1984. Since Appellant did not seek certiorari review in the United States Supreme Court, his direct appeal became final on the day of this Court's mandate. According to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 in effect at the time, Appellant had until January 1, 1987, to file a motion for postconviction relief in state court, unless

(1) the facts upon which the claim is predicted were unknown to the movant or his attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence, or, (2) the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for been held to herein and has apply retroactively.

Appellant's 3.850 motion and amendment, filed on April 5, 1995, and December 19, 1995, respectively, were well outside the time provision for filing such a motion. Moreover, none of the claims were based on newly discovered evidence or retroactively applied fundamental constitutional rights. Thus, Appellant's motion was untimely and was properly denied as procedurally barred. Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455, 458-59 & n.4 (Fla. 1992).

Besides the fact that Appellant's motion and amendment were untimely, they were also successive. Appellant filed a timely motion to vacate on September 17, 1984, an amended motion to vacate on December 30, 1986, and an amendment to the amended motion to vacate on August 21, 1987. The trial court denied the motions and amendments after an evidentiary hearing on two claims, and this Court affirmed the denial. Pope v. State, 569 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 1990), Thus, Appellant's 1995 motion and amendment constituted a second and successive motion for postconviction relief.

Rule 3.850 provides that

[al second or successive motion may be dismissed if the judge finds that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and the prior determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge finds that the failure of the movant or the attorney to assert those grounds in a prior motion constituted an abuse of the procedure governed by these rules.

Although Appellant raised new and different grounds, i.e., additional acts of deficient conduct by trial counsel, Appellant could have, and should have, raised these grounds in his original 3.850 motion. As noted previously, none of the allegations were based on newly discovered evidence or the retroactive application of a fundamental change in the law. Thus, the trial court properly denied the motion as an abuse of the process. Lambrix V. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S365, 366 & n.2 (Fla. Sept. 12, 1996) ("Successive

claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on different grounds are not permitted."); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911, 913 (Fla. 1991) ("A defendant may not raise claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on a piecemeal basis by filing successive motions.").

To overcome the procedural bars, Appellant attempted to excuse his failure to raise the new claims in his original 3.850 motion by claiming that collateral counsel was ineffective. He also attempted to gain review on the merits by applying the federal concepts of 'fundamental miscarriage of justice" and 'actual innocence." None of these excuses, however, are availing. First, the federal concepts of "miscarriage of justice" and "actual innocence" relate exclusively to federal habeas corpus proceedings and are not applicable to state postconviction proceedings. if they were, Appellant has failed to show "that the grounds asserted were not known and could not have been known to him at the time of the earlier motion." Foster, 614 So. 2d at 458. Second, pursuant to this Court's recent opinion in Lambrix V. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S365, 366 & n.2 (Fla. Sept. 12, 1996), 'claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel do not present a valid basis for relief." See also Murray v. Giarratano. 492 U.S. 1 (1989) (finding no constitutional right to postconviction counsel).

Appellant cites to the statute authorizing representation of death row inmates by CCR and several cases for the proposition that Appellant is entitled to <u>effective</u> collateral representation, but they do not support his position, especially in light of Lambrix. Capital defendants are not constitutionally entitled to postconviction counsel. A fortiori, they are not constitutionally entitled to <u>effective</u> postconviction counsel. That counsel is often appointed statutorily, though it was not in this case, does not create a constitutional right to effective assistance of collateral counsel. Lambrix, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at 366; Giarratano, 492 U.S. at 9-13; <u>Troedel v. State</u>, 479 So. 2d 736, 737 (Fla. 1985) ("While chapter [27, Fla. Stat. (1985)] represents a state policy of providing legal assistance for collateral representation on behalf of indigent persons under sentence of death, it did not add anything to the substantive stat-law or constitutional rights of such persons.").

Citing to <u>Breedlove v. Singletary</u>, 595 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1992), Appellant further contends that "unique circumstances" compel consideration of his claims on the merits. Initial brief at 9-10. Appellant's 'unique circumstances," however, relate back to Appellant's claim that collateral counsel was ineffective. In <u>Breedlove</u>, this Court overlooked a successive-petition procedural bar because original collateral counsel had been trial counsel and

did not raise claims of ineffectiveness in the original 3.850.

Here, collateral counsel was not trial counsel, and collateral counsel did challenge trial counsel's effectiveness in the original 3.850 motion. Although collateral counsel on Appellant's second 3.850 motion was the same person who litigated Appellant's first 3.850 motion, Breedlove is inapplicable because Appellant cannot raise collateral counsel's ineffective as a "unique circumstance" warranting review on the merits.

In sum, Appellant filed an untimely, successive motion which raised claims that could have been, and should have been, raised in his original 3.850 motion. Because none of the claims were based on newly discovered evidence or the retroactive application of fundamental changes in the law, his claims were procedurally barred. Allegations that collateral counsel was ineffective for failing to raise these claims in Appellant's first 3.850 motion do not overcome the procedural bars because Appellant has no constitutional right to collateral counsel, much less effective collateral counsel. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's order denying relief.

ISSUE II

WHETHER APPELLANT'S CHALLENGES TO THE CCP AND HAC AGGRAVATING FACTOR JURY INSTRUCTIONS WERE PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED (Restated).

In his successive motion, Appellant complained that the trial court failed to give a limiting instruction on the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" and "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" aggravating factors. (R 126-44). He conceded, however, that trial counsel failed to object to these instructions, and thus failed to preserve the issue for review. (R 145-46). As this Court is well-aware, this failure to object renders the claim procedurally barred. James, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993); Melendez v. State, 612 So. 2d 1366 (Fla. 1992).

To overcome this bar, Appellant claimed that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge these instructions, thereby prejudicing Appellant's right to adequate appellate review and ultimately relief. (R 147-48). An allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel, however, cannot be used to circumvent a procedural bar. Lopez v. Sinsletarv. 634 So. 2d 1054, 1057 (Fla. 1993); Deaton v. Dugger, 635 So. 2d 4, 7 (Fla. 1994). Furthermore, failure to raise a claim that would have been rejected does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Salmon v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1994). Finally, and most importantly, since

Appellant could have, and should have, raised this issue in his first 3.850, it is untimely, and was properly denied as procedurally barred. Lambrix v. Stat-e, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S365, 366 & n.2 (Fla. Sept. 12, 1996) ("Successive claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on different grounds are not permitted."). Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's order denying relief.

<u>ISSUE III</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S PRO SE MOTION TO APPOINT CONFLICT-FREE COUNSEL AND AMENDED MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF (Restated).

Alan Wagner began representing Appellant during Appellant's state habeas proceedings in 1985, and remained Appellant's counsel federal postconviction Appellant's state and throughout proceedings. Upon return from federal district court to exhaust certain claims, Mr. Wagner filed a 151-page 3.850 motion on Appellant's behalf on April 6, 1995. (R 1-151). Eight months later, just prior to the State's response, Appellant filed a pro se "Motion to Hold Proceedings in Abeyance Pending Resolution of Status of Representation, " a "Motion for Hearing to Determine Competency of Appointed Collateral Counsel and Consolidated Motion for the Appointment of Capital Collateral Representatives," and an amended 3.850 motion. (R 170-72, 173-75, 176-220). In these motions, Appellant requested the appointment of CCR because Mr. Wagner was no longer able to obtain assistance from the Volunteer Lawyer's Resource Center (VLRC), and because Mr. Wagner was not competent to represent Appellant absent that assistance. (R 170-75). Moreover, Appellant claimed that a conflict existed because Mr. Wagner was unable to make the necessary argument that he

¹ These pleadings were prepared on Appellant's behalf by Michael Lambrix, a fellow death row inmate. (R 217-18).

(Wagner) rendered ineffective assistance during Appellant's original 3.850 proceeding by failing to raise these new claims in the prior motion. In fact, Appellant was very concerned and upset that Mr. Wagner had made no attempt in the successive motion to excuse his failure to raise the claims in the original 3.850 motion. Thus, Appellant claimed that he needed to have CCR appointed in order to challenge Mr. Wagner's ineffectiveness and overcome the procedural bar the State would likely raise.²

On the same day that the State filed its response to Mr. Wagner's 3.850 motion, Mr. Wagner moved to withdraw, based on Appellant's allegations. (R 595-96). Two weeks later, on January 10, 1996, CCR filed a 'Motion to Hold Proceedings in Abeyance pending Resolution of Designation of Counsel," claiming that it would be unable to designate counsel for Appellant because of its excessive caseload. (R 597-615). That same day, the trial court held a hearing on Mr. Wagner's motion to withdraw. Ultimately, the trial court ruled that Mr. Wagner would remain on the case until the court had disposed of the 3.850 motion, then it would allow counsel to withdraw. (SR 4-11; R 621).

As a result of this hearing, the trial court denied on February 1, 1996, both CCR's and Appellant's pro se motion to hold

² At no time, however, did Appellant seek to represent himself.

the proceedings in abeyance. (R 616). Three weeks later, Appellant filed a pro se "Motion to Appoint Conflict-Free Counsel," which was essentially a motion for rehearing. (R 618-20). In June, the trial court summarily denied both the 3.850 filed by Mr. Wagner and the amended 3.850 motion filed by Appellant, finding the motions successive and procedurally barred. It also denied Appellant's pro se motion to appoint conflict-free counsel. (R 622-23).

Two weeks later, CCR filed a "Motion to Clarify Status of Counsel, To Reconsider Dismissal of Mlotion for Postconviction Relief and Motion to Hold Proceedings in Abeyance Pending Resolution of Designation of Counsel." (R 624-26). CCR was concerned that, given the trial court's prior order, Appellant would be unrepresented to file a motion for rehearing. In its order denying the motion, the trial court stated as follows:

On June 4, 1996, the Court filed an Order dismissing both Defendant's Motion and Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief, and denying Defendant's Motion to Appoint Conflict-Free Counsel. Therefore, Attorney Alan Wagner was released as volunteer defense counsel as of that date.

As a result, it appears as though the CCR would be the appropriate counsel to represent Defendant in any further pleadings before this Court. In addition, the Court finds no reason to reconsider its dismissal of either the Motion or Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief, as they were both successive.

Finally, since the issue of designation of counsel has been resolved, the Court will not hold any further proceedings in abeyance.

(R 632).

In this appeal, Appellant now claims that the trial court erred in denying 'the request for the appointment of conflict-free counsel." Initial brief at 40. According to Appellant, "[t] he lower court found that volunteer counsel had a conflict and could withdraw," id. at 40, but the record does not support that claim. At the hearing on Mr. Wagner's motion to withdraw, Mr. Wagner explained that he had been representing Appellant free of charge for the last ten years, but had been assisted by VLRC, which was no longer in existence. (SR 3-4, 9-10). The State responded that any change in counsel so late in the proceedings would delay it considerably and would thwart the orderly administration of justice. (SR 5-10). In ruling on the motion, the trial court stated,

Well, I don't want to force Mr. Wagner to stay. I mean, the man has done this voluntarily, hasn't even gotten a fee. If he wants to get off after ten years -- my, God, I wish there were others willing to undertake to represent somebody ten years for nothing.

All right, this is going to be my position. What I'm going to do, I'm going to leave you on until I make a ruling on the 3.850. . . . Thereafter, I'll allow you to withdraw.

(SR 10-11).

The trial court did <u>not</u> find a conflict; rather, it appreciated the fact that Mr. Wagner had represented Appellant for ten years pro bono, and allowed him to withdraw after the conclusion of these proceedings. The so-called "conflict" was of Appellant's making. He wanted to allege that Mr. Wagner was ineffective so that he could excuse his failure to raise his procedurally barred claims earlier. Such a "conflict," however, did not warrant substituting counsel seven months into the proceedings.

More importantly, the trial court considered Appellant's prosecond season as an excuse for the untimeliness of his claims. The trial court did not find Appellant's allegations sufficient to overcome the procedural bar. Thus, even if the trial court had discharged Mr. Wagner and appointed CCR to allege Wagner's ineffectiveness, the outcome of the proceedings would have been the same.

As for the trial court's denial of Appellant's *pro* se amended 3.850 motion, all of the claims raised by Appellant were procedurally barred since they could have been and should have been raised in his first 3.850 motion. <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S365, 366 & n.2 (Fla. Sept. 12, 1996) ("Successive claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on different grounds are not

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